
   

DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 
UNAPPROVED MINUTES 

Meeting of TUESDAY, July 17, 2007 
 

1.  The meeting was called to order at 7:04 p.m. 

 

Members present: Robert J. Wernecke, Chairman; John Hurley, Vice-Chair; Muriel Morse; Henry A. LaGue, 

Jr. and Paul Irons, Alternate.   Absent:  Robert G. Manley.   

 

Staff present: Jeff Schulz, Town Administrator, Peter Noyes, Interim Zoning Administrator and Carla Preston, 

Recording Secretary. 

 

Others present:  Deborah Blanchard, Michael Entrott, Peter Cross, Dereck Woolridge, Jennifer Conley, 

Rosalyn Holderfield, Paul Gillies, Shirley Fortier, Debra Allen, Burnie Allen, John Kerekes, Fred Budzyn, 

Bethany Budzyn, Arthur Newhouse and Mel Huff with the Times Argus.  

 

The Board explained its Policy and definition of party status and interested persons to attendees.  Arthur 

Newshouse, abutter, and Shirley Fortier with the Berlin Bike Path Committee, requested party status with 

regard to Applications 07-047 and 07-048.  

 

2.  New Business 

 

A.  07-056  – Deborah Blanchard submitted an application for Conditional Use Review to replace and expand an 

existing garage on a non-conforming lot.  The property is located at 560 Muzzy Road, in the Rural Residential 

(R-40) District, Tax Map R10-12. Deborah Blanchard and Michael Entrott were sworn in to give testimony on 

this matter. 

 

Ms. Morse indicated that she owns property that abuts the applicant’s.  She said she would recuse if the 

applicants wished, but believed she could act fairly and impartially on the matter.   No one objected to Ms. 

Morse serving on the Board for this application.  

 

The following documents were submitted and admitted as exhibits.  Exhibit #1:  Application For Zoning 

Permit dated June 18, 2007; Exhibit #2: Sketches of the property showing existing and proposed structures, 

setbacks, brook, roads, etc.; Exhibit #3:  The Applicants June 17, 2007 statement addressing Conditional Use 

Review Criteria; Exhibit #4:  Copies of the applicants letters to the Berlin Volunteer Fire, Police and Highway 

Departments requesting an impact statement; Exhibit #5:  June 26, 2007 letter from the Berlin Volunteer Fire 

Department stating minimal impact;  Exhibit #6:  July 10, 2007 letter from Berlin Highway Department 

stating minimal impact; and Exhibit #7: Zoning Administrator’s Report for DRB meeting July 17, 2007. 

 

Ms. Blanchard said the existing garage is 18 inches from the brook.  She said there are currently erosion 

problems, which are worsening.  They want to tear down the existing porch and one car garage and build a 

new single story two-car garage located further away from the brook.  They would like to move the garage 

forward so that it is at least six feet from the brook, which would make the front yard setback to the garage at 

21 feet.  She said the existing garage is in poor condition.   The front yard setback for the house is eight feet.  

Other setbacks are met for the district.  She explained that the driveway would become shorter with these 

proposed changes.   She said there would still be ample room for fuel and propane deliveries. 

 

Mr. Noyes said it is a pre-existing non-conforming lot and the setbacks do not meet the current requirements.  

Since they wish to replace and expand an existing non-complying structure, DRB review is required.  He said 

it is located within a stream protection area, also requiring DRB review.   He said impact statements have 

letters obtained from the Berlin Fire, and Highway Departments.  Mr. Noyes took photographs of house and 

garage.  He said the site washed out in 1989, noting that there are culverts below and above this home. 



BERLIN DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES – JULY 17, 2007   PAGE 2   

 

Ms. Blanchard said they had some problems with their driveway washing away because the culverts had not 

been cleaned out.  Mr. Entrott said the Town has since cleaned out the culverts and added ditching further up 

stream, which took care of the problem.   They said they have received a response from the Police Department 

stating no impact and would provide a copy to the Board/Zoning Office. 

 

The applicants said they have made improvements to the stream with the guidance of Patrick Ross from the 

Agency of Natural Resources.   The excavation improved the flow of the water through the property and 

helped secure the surrounding land. 

 

The Board noted that according to the regulations, it has the authority to grant up to 50 percent of a setback 

requirement, which in this case would be 25 feet.  The Board noted that the issues concerning this application 

include, a pre-existing lot, expansion of a non-conforming structure, stream protection and setbacks.  

 

Ms. Blanchard and Mr. Entrott explained that if they move the garage back to meet the 50% setback it would 

only be two feet from the brook.  They said they could not locate it closer to the house due to snowfall off the 

house roof and interference with the entryway.  They said it would also be more costly because they would 

need frost walls versus a slab on grade.  It would be difficult and more costly to connect the rooflines if the 

garage were moved closer to the house. They said they would move the garage back closer to the brook if it 

was the only option, but are concerned about the brook.  A shed has already been removed, which was falling 

into the brook.   

  

The applicants said that bicycle and pedestrian access, hours of operation, and utilization of renewable energy 

resources do not apply to this single-family residence.  Ms. Blanchard stated that there has been no 

determination that her residence is located within a flood hazard area, thus is also not applicable.   

  

Based on documents presented and testimony heard, Ms. Morse made a motion to close Application 07-056.  

Mr. LaGue seconded the motion and the motion passed unanimously.  The Board will deliberate and issue its 

written findings. 

     

B. 07-048 – JKL Limited Partnership submitted an application for Site Plan Review to demolish a portion of an 

existing building and to construct a new building (totaling 134,389 square feet) and parking area.  The 

property is located on Ames Drive, in the Highway Commercial (HC) District, Tax Map U3-4.  The following 

persons were sworn in to give testimony on this matter:  John Kerekes with McCarthy Kerekes, LLC [The 

Home Depot]; Peter Cross, P.E. and Dereck Woolridge, P.E. with Cross Consulting Engineers, P.C.; Jennifer 

Conley, P.E. with Conley Associates, Inc.; Rosalyn Holderfield with L.D. Associates, Inc.; Paul Gillies, Esq. 

for the applicant, Arthur Newhouse, abutter, and Shirley Fortier with the Berlin Bike Path Committee.  Others 

present who may or may not have been sworn in but did not offer testimony:  Debra Allen, Burnie Allen, Fred 

Budzyn, and Bethany Budzyn. 

 

Members of the Board indicated that there were no recusals or ex-parte communication with regard to this 

application. 

 

The following documents were submitted and admitted as exhibits.  Exhibit #1:  Application For Zoning 

Permit, 07-048, dated June 11, 2007; Exhibit #2: Civil Plans for The Home Depot, Store Number SS-

29037.2001, Cover Sheet G1.0, prepared by Cross Consulting Engineers, P.C., dated June 6, 2007; Exhibit 
#3:  Map of Boundary Survey, prepared by Cross Consulting Engineers, P.C., dated November 15, 2006; 

Exhibit #4:  Topographical Survey, V2.0, prepared by Cross Consulting Engineers, P.C., dated June 6, 2007; 

Exhibit #5:  Demolition Clearing & Grubbing Plan, D1.0, prepared by Cross Consulting Engineers, P.C., 

Exhibit #6:  Site Improvement Plan (Horizontal Control Plan), C1.0, prepared by Cross Consulting Engineers, 

P.C., dated June 6, 2007; Exhibit #7:  Site Improvement Plan Details, C1.1, prepared by Cross Consulting 

Engineers, P.C., dated June 6, 2007; Exhibit #8:  Grading & Storm System, C2.0, Detention Pond & Details,  



BERLIN DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES – JULY 17, 2007   PAGE 3   

 

C2.1, and Retaining Wall Sections & Details, C2.2, prepared by Cross Consulting Engineers, P.C., dated June 

6, 2007; Exhibit #9:  Storm System & Utility Details, C3.1, Waterline Plan & Profile, C3.2, C3.3, prepared by 

Cross Consulting Engineers, P.C., dated June 6, 2007; Exhibit #10:  Erosion Control Plan Pre-Construction, 

C4.1, and Erosion Control Plan-Construction, C4.2, and Erosion Control Details, C4.3, prepared by Cross 

Consulting Engineers, P.C., dated June 6, 2007; Exhibit #11: Utility Plan, C5.0, prepared by Cross Consulting 

Engineers, P.C., dated June 6, 2007; Exhibit #12:  Site Illumination Plan, C6.0, prepared by Cross Consulting 

Engineers, P.C., dated June 6, 2007; Exhibit #13:  Landscaping Plans, LA-100 and LA-101, prepared by SE 

Group, and Cross Consulting Engineers, P.C., dated June 7, 2007;  Exhibit #14:  June 11, 2007 letter from 

Cross Consulting Engineers, P.C., describing the project, including copies of Site Plans, Architectural 

Rendering, list of abutting property owners, etc.; Exhibit #15: June 11, 2007 letter from Cross Consulting 

Engineers, P.C., stating Justification for a Reduction in the Required Number of Off-Street Parking Spaces; 
Exhibit #16:  Copies of letters dated August 21, 2006 sent to the Berlin Fire and Police departments and to the 

Washington Central Supervisory Union describing project and requesting impact statements; Exhibit #17: 
May 8, 2007 letters (2) from Conley Associates to the Vermont Agency of Transportation regarding the traffic 

impact study; Exhibit #18:  December 19, 2006 letter from the Vermont Agency of Natural Resources, River 

Management Program, regarding Special Flood Hazard Area; Exhibit #19:  October 30, 2006 letter from the 

Washington Central Supervisory Union indicating that it could easily accommodate an estimate of 10 to 15 

new school age students as a result of this endeavor; Exhibit #20:  September 26, 2006 letter from the Berlin 

Volunteer Fire Department, Inc. stating minimal impact on its ability to provide emergency services, but 

requesting additional information; Exhibit #21:  March 10, 2006 letter from the City of Montpelier, Director 

of Public Works, concerning capacity; Exhibit #22:  June 13, 2007 letter and Allocation Approval from the 

Berlin Sewer Commission; Exhibit #23: Lighting Specification/Cut Sheets;  Exhibit #24:  Traffic Study 

submitted by Conley Associates; Exhibit #25:  July 12, 2007 letter from J.K.L. Limited Partnership to the 

Zoning Administrator, concerning their willingness to enter into an easement concerning the Town of Berlin’s 

Bike Path (also copy of November 21, 2002 letter from Redstone Investments to the Berlin Select Board 

stating its support of the Bike Path); and Exhibit #26:  Zoning Administrator’s Report for DRB meeting July 

17, 2007. 

 

Cross Consulting Engineers, P.C. is representing their client, McCarthy Kerekes, LLC (The Home Depot).  

The landowner is JKL Limited Partnership.  Dereck Woolridge, PE, provided an overview of project.  He said 

The Home Depot proposes to demolish a portion of the existing Ames Plaza building and construct a new 

building with a garden center, totaling 134,389 square feet of retail space.  He pointed out specifics on the 

Architectural Rendering or on large-scale plans.  The lot is 30.76 acres in size and is accessed via a signalized 

intersection off U.S. Route 302.  The majority of the parcel is located within the Highway Commercial (HC) 

District, with a small portion in the Rural Residential (R-40) District.  The parcel is close to the Stevens 

Branch of the river flowing north toward Montpelier.  The Flood Hazard Overlay Area covers a small area of 

the parcel mostly along the access drive at the edge of the property.  The existing and proposed use of this 

property is best defined as shopping center, a permitted use within the Highway Commercial District. 

  

Mr. Woolridge pointed out the existing buildings, Price Chopper and Dollar Store, which would remain.  He 

said they propose to demolish from the Dollar Store toward Montpelier, which would include the old Ames 

Building and the medical store (Keene) building space.  He said there would be a loading zone in front of the 

building and a garden center on the north side, similar to the Williston store.  He noted that the renderings 

show that the building face is flat.  He said there is a stormwater pond to the north side.  He said the system of 

pipes would connect and run to a detention pond, and back into the Stevens Branch of the river.  He said water 

supply would be from the City of Montpelier.  He said they would be connecting to the existing sewer system. 

He said the existing outdoor lighting within the parking area would be replaced and new lighting would be 

installed, which would be in accordance with the regulations.  He said traffic flow would enter through one 

access at the existing traffic light, flow into the main drive and loop around the building.  He said customers 

would park in front and the loading area is toward the north end.  Mr. Woolridge said tractor-trailer trucks 

would arrive at rear of the building and leave at the front.  Delivery trucks to Price Chopper must turn around.   



BERLIN DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES – JULY 17, 2007   PAGE 4   

 

Mr. Woolridge said the bike path is shown on the plans.  He said the bike bath and access drive are close at the 

corner of the lot but there is enough room.  He said there would also be greenspace provided to separate 

parking areas.  He said there would be screening from US 302 on the western and northern edges.  He said 

there would be screening around the retention pond as well. Mr. Woolridge said the size of the lot compares 

with Williston. There is space for trucks to meet and pass; it is 24 feet wide.   

 

John Kerekes, with McCarthy Kerekes, LLC [The Home Depot], said the Williston store was designed for a 

Sam’s Cub, at 110,000 square feet.  He said this would be similar to the shape and size of the store located in 

Rutland. 

  

Peter Noyes, Interim Zoning Administrator, noted the change in parking, the property abuts the Rural 

Residential District (at 600 foot contour line), off the garden center area, and the Fire Department’s concerns.  

He said the Fire Department requested access to the retention pond for fire suppression.   

 

Mr. Woolridge showed the zoning line on another map where it abuts the Rural Residential area.  He said he 

assumed that the zone did not move when contours changed. He said the retention pond referred to by the Fire 

Department is designed to hold very little water.  He said there would be no reliable source from the detention 

pond, which would benefit the Fire Dept. It is not a wet pond design.  

 

The applicants addressed Site Plan Review Criteria.   

a. Safety of vehicular and pedestrian circulation on site and any adverse impacts on the adjacent street 

network.    Jennifer Conley with Conley Associates, Inc. of Killington, Vermont said they assessed the 

traffic impacts associated with the proposed 134,000 [plus] square foot Home Depot to be located at the 

former 64,000 square foot Ames store, off US 302 in Berlin.  She outlined the steps they took to reach 

their conclusions.  She said the study area along US 302 extended to US Route 2 to the north, VT 62/VT 

14 to the south and the intersection of VT 62 at Fisher Road and Airport Road to the west.  Traffic volume 

data was collect in September of 2006 and supplemented with counts from the Vermont Agency of 

Transportation.  She said they did the study along Christmastime and up to five years in the future.  She 

said they collected data at home improvement stores for the trip impact and traffic patterns on US 302.  

She said they found that two-thirds comes from the north and that one-third from the south.  She said their 

analysis showed a bit of delay to go to the left, but generally traffic moves smoothly. Design Hourly 

Volumes (DHV) was analyzed for the 2006 existing, 2011 no build (if Home Depot was not built) and 

2011 build (if built) conditions.  The trip generation estimates were conservative in that no credit was 

taken off the existing 64,000 SF vacant Ames store.  The proposed Home Depot is expected to generate 

172 new vehicles trips (76 trips in and 96 trips out) during the weekday PM peak hour and 376 new 

vehicle trips (210 trips in and 166 trips out) during the Saturday midday peak hour.  With the provision of 

an additional left turn lane into the site and minor timing modifications, the study area intersections are 

expected to operate at Level of Service (LOS) C or better.  The only exception is the intersection of US 

302 at Berlin Street.  With minor modifications at the site driveway intersection, the proposed Home 

Depot can be constructed with minimal impact to area roadways.  Area signalized intersections will 

continue to operate at LOS C or better with an increase in delay of approximately six seconds or less.  She 

said if the impact at the driveway is not solved, the level of service would be F.   

 

Ms. Conley said the Report has been sent to VTrans to the traffic research unit, and they have a 

preliminary response for a favorable review. They are also proposing to re-stripe US 302 to accommodate 

a 2
nd

 left turn lane into the site.  She explained that two separate left turn lanes would take the through 

traffic vehicles out of the way and keep them moving so more traffic could be processed into the site.   She 

believes it would mitigate the problem. Ms. Conley said they would provide a copy of the Email response 

from VTrans.  She said no drawings of the revised intersection have been submitted.  They want ACT 250 

review before submitting it.  She said they could layout the concept if needed.  They are aware that they 

would have to modify the entrance.   



BERLIN DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES – JULY 17, 2007   PAGE 5   

 

The Board indicated that the drawings must be to scale and show the proposed modification to what is in 

existence.  The Board asked about the impact on the drives for Kinney’s Pharmacy and Bond Auto Supply.    

The Board sees the intersection as a problem.  Vehicles exiting Kinney’s or Bond’s find it better to go 

around the back of the buildings and enter the queue further up to get into line versus cutting into traffic.  

The Board sees the intersection as a problem.   

 

Interested Persons: Arthur Newhouse, abutter, said he sees the intersection as a problem to exit his property 

and go left toward Barre.  He said the way the lanes are painted, they curve in to go left into the plaza.  

Vehicles waiting in line go back beyond his driveway, making it impossible to turn left toward Barre.  He 

asked how it would work with two left turns.  

 

Ms. Conley said they would design the turn lanes long enough to accommodate turns.  They would not 

change the northbound direction; it would remain a single lane to the north.  She said the pavement is wide 

enough.  Ms. Conley agreed to look at that issue.  

 

The Board asked Ms. Conley for any maps or sketches that accompanied her report.  A complete copy of 

the Report with diagrams was provided to the Chairman for review.  The Board reminded the applicants 

that it wants plans/sketch of the proposed entrance as modified.  It appears that they are proposing four 

lanes on a 50-foot wide road. The two left lanes, bike path, median, and turning movements, need to be 

illustrated.  The Board asked specific questions about her report and findings.    

 

Ms. Conley explained the studies.  She said they did modeling based on anticipated change in shopping 

opportunities.  They took only those regional issues.  She said they did not take into consideration housing 

projects approved but not yet built.  She said the model was based on normal growth rates, plus trips 

generated by the applicant.  She said the data was based on five-year VTrans projections.  

 

She said a survey was conducted with very specific questions pertaining to home improvements stores.  

She said they noted a drop in the level of service on Saturdays.  The level of service for the whole 

intersection is average, and in general is operating on level C.  The Board requested additional copies of 

the complete report.   

 

b. Adequacy of circulation, parking, and loading facilities.   Mr. Woolridge said the main flow of traffic 

on site would be on the western side of the property.  Pedestrians would have access to the building at 

the front via crosswalks.  Traffic may drive through that area as well but they expect that most traffic 

would enter along the access road by the river to the parking area and avoid traveling in front of the 

buildings.  He said tractor-trailer trucks would not be where pedestrians are crossing to the building.  

He said there would be sidewalks along the building crosswalks shown.  He said traffic in front of the 

building is two directions and 30 feet wide.  He said it is two-way traffic between parking aisles.  The 

drive aisles are 25 feet wide.  He said there is no pedestrian access along the side at the entrance.  They 

would need to cross four lanes. 

  

Mr. Cross said they could provide pedestrian access from Kinney’s Pharmacy to the site. They are not 

opposed to putting in access on the other side of the drive and would consider it.   

 

Arthur Newhouse asked if the bike path plans were concrete.  He asked where bike path users would 

go in all that traffic at the intersection.  He believes it would be difficult for pedestrians and bicyclists 

to get across the street.   

 

The applicants explained that the Bike Path does not go along the railroad track.  According to the 

plans it runs on the eastern side of railway and goes up by the existing buildings at the western edge of 

the drive access.  Bikers and walkers could get access at the corner to enter the parking area if they 



BERLIN DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES – JULY 17, 2007   PAGE 6   

wanted to go shopping.  Pedestrians would just cross the parking lot.  The applicants said they did not 

wish to stripe a crosswalk randomly.  Vehicles would expect pedestrians along the access. The 

applicants said the area would be well lighted.   

 

The applicants said their experience is that people do not use the striped crosswalks for access to the 

building.  They said Williston has sidewalks but people do not use them.  They would then need curb 

stops for control of vehicles, which would impact snowplowing and maintenance.   

 

John Kerekes said Home Depot prefers non-sidewalks because it is difficult to get between the 

vehicles with large carts carrying long products.  He said the Rutland store has no sidewalks and noted 

that sidewalks are a problem for this type of business.   

 

b. Adequacy of circulation, parking, and loading facilities.   Mr. Woolridge said loading facilities are 

at the rear of the building.  The facility would be capable of handling three tractor-trailer trucks at 

once.  He said circulation patterns were mentioned earlier.  He said with regard to the number of 

parking spaces, they are asking the Board to consider a reduction in the number of parking spaces and 

have prepared a written justification.  He said the current site contains 126,968 SF of retail space and 

has a total of 575 parking spaces, of which 402 are directly in front of the former Ames store (to be 

demolished).  The remaining 173 spaces are in front of the retail space to remain.  He explained that 

The Home Depot contracted with a group to look at parking requirements in other states, which 

studied 17 stores in various states.  The data collected from that and other studies showed actual 

demands less than estimated by the studies.  In October of 2006, they conducted a parking study of the 

four Home Depot stores in Vermont, which resulted in an average of 1.56 spaces per 1000 SF.  Using 

this demand rate, the required number of spaces is computed to be 210 spaces. The Ordinance requires 

one space for every 200 feet of retail space.  The total number of spaces required for the site would be 

a total of 915 spaces (243 remaining and 672 proposed retail space), which equates to five for every 

1000 SF.  The proposed site plans show an expanded parking area with a maximum of 683 spaces.  

Within the parking area for The Home Depot, 9 cart corrals and a seasonal sales space are is identified 

that encompasses 28 spaces.  Up to 12 spaces would be used to display utility trailers.  The net number 

of spaces is 435 spaces for The Home Depot and 199 spaces for the remaining retail space, for a net 

site total of 634 spaces.  They believe that this site would serve this area and take some of the pressure 

off the Williston location.  

 

To meet the requirements of Section 3.12(A) would require the addition of 281 spaces, which would 

add over two acres of pavement to the site and extend the parking area 378 feet to the north making 

the furthest parking spot approximately 1000 feet from the entrance.  Due to the grade, very steep on 

the side, retaining walls, large retention area, wetlands, railroad and the property line, there is no more 

room to expand parking.  The amount of earthwork to construct the additional parking (10 to 60 feet 

depth) would be cost prohibitive.  Their studies show a need for 3.6 spaces per 1000 SF.  Based on this 

data, they request a reduction in the required number of parking spaces.     

 

Mr. Newhouse asked about snow removal.  He wondered if they had storage area on site of if they 

would be running trucks to haul it away.   

 

Mr. Woolridge indicated that they do have some storage along the edges.  He said in the case of a 

large storm, snow would need to be trucked off site.   He said the site would be designed to handle 

normal winters.      

 

c. Bicycle and Pedestrian Access.   The applicants said they have a letter from the landowner addressing 

their commitment to the bike path.  A copy of the July 12, 2007 letter from J.K.L. Limited Partnership 

to the Town of Berlin stating its support of the project was provided.  The applicants said they would 

provide a copy of the November 21, 2002 letter referenced in that letter as well.  In response to the 



BERLIN DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES – JULY 17, 2007   PAGE 7   

Board’s question of access to the bike path from the site, Mr. Woolridge said people could park in the 

parking lot to access the bike path.   

 

d. Adequacy of landscaping.  The applicants referred to their landscaping plan, LA-100 and LA-101.  

They said there is currently several trees in the parking area to the side, some of which would be 

removed during excavation.  There is no landscaping in the parking area, only small islands.  There are 

shrubs near the Price Chopper and trees along the drive aisle.  They said there is a tight line between 

the bike path and the property line, so they are not proposing much landscaping there.  There would be 

large islands between the two parking areas, which would be landscaped and mulched.   

 

The applicants said that in general the site is well screened from US 302.  The rendering presented 

does not have the proposed trees on it.  There would be trees and shrubs along the river.  Currently, 

there are Birch and Spruce trees.  The existing tree line follows the entire edge of property around 

back and toward the river.     

 

In response to questions concerning treatment/screening to the retaining wall, the applicants indicated 

that the building would block it out.  The applicants said the top of the retaining wall could be seen 

from the corner of the parking lot.  They are proposing soldier pile wall so it would consist of steel I-

Beams driven into the soil and timbers between the I-Beams.  The applicants said those materials tend 

to give natural colors and blend into the trees and general shadows.   They verified that the retaining 

wall would be earth tones, but have not yet specified the color.  

 

It was noted that the retaining wall in front by the bike path would be visible from US 302.  The 

applicants said they plan to use segmented block wall, architectural view (textured wall).  The 

applicants agreed to provide more information about this retaining wall and screening.  

 

Shirley Fortier said the Bike Path Committee would work with the applicant regarding the retaining 

wall that supports the driveway.  She said the applicant is working with Evan Detrick of the Bike Path 

Committee to protect people on the bike path from the edge of drive lane.  She said it would be part of 

the Bike Path project.   

 

In response to the Board’s question concerning how deep the water level in the retention pond would 

reach during a heavy storm, Mr. Woolridge said it would go up to six or seven feet before spilling 

over.  He said the retention pond would need to be fenced, which is not shown on the plans.  He said 

fencing would be split rail or something similar with brush/shrubs around it. (It was noted that 

barberry bushes mentioned are on the invasive species list, thus not permitted).  He said they could use 

chain link if needed.  The applicants said there would also be a fence along the top of the 50-foot high 

wall for safety purposes.  They said it runs the entire length of the site.  They were unsure if that fence 

would be visible from Route 62 or other areas but indicated that they would provide the Board with 

other options regarding the fence and show it on the plans.   

 

e. Hours of Operation.  The applicants stated that the hours of operation as 6:00 AM to 11:00 PM 

Monday through Saturday, and 7:00 AM to 8:00 PM on Sundays. 

 

f. Setbacks.  The applicants indicated that the buildings (existing and proposed) are well within the 

setbacks.  They noted that it is an odd shaped lot. They indicated that the retaining wall would be 

within the setback at the bottom, near the river. The applicants indicated that they do have an easement 

for construction purposes of 50 feet to build a retaining wall.  It was noted that when a commercial 

zone abuts a residential zone, the setback requirement is 100 feet.  The applicants believe that they 

would be in compliance with all setbacks and will verify it.  

 

g. Adequacy of Exterior lighting.   The applicants noted that exterior lighting is shown on the 



BERLIN DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES – JULY 17, 2007   PAGE 8   

landscaping plan. They propose lights at the end of each row of the parking area, along the perimeter, 

and along the perimeter of the building.  They are not removing existing lighting, just replacing it.  

They said they used the outdoor lighting manual of Chittenden County and provided cut sheets.  The 

lights would prevent glare and are Dark Sky friendly.  All fixtures are cutoff.  The applicants agreed to 

enhance their submission regarding the fixtures they would be using.  The entranceway would have 

new lighting. There would be two lights at each loading dock area, and are only on when loading or 

unloading.   The applicants agreed to further clarify their proposed exterior lighting plans.  

 

h. Stormwater and Drainage.   Mr. Woolridge said the existing system starts at the rear of the old Ames 

building and carries around to a 36-inch culvert under the existing railroad, and then dumps into the 

Stevens Branch of the river.  He said there is a separate system by the Price Chopper that discharges to 

a different location. He said they propose to pick up water at a series of catch basins in the parking 

area and pipes to collect runoff.  They would recharge the swale as part of their stormwater 

management plan.  The pipe is at a slope of two percent.  It would pass the 100-year flood plan.  They 

are not proposing changes to the existing drainage by the Price Chopper.  They are increasing the 

amount of impervious area by two acres for a total of 6.8 acres of impervious area.  They do have a 

preliminary stormwater report but have not yet submitted any state application.  The applicants 

confirmed that it does meet the criteria of the stormwater manual.   

 

The applicants said they are removing a large volume of earth and would use it as a base for raising a 

portion of the site.  They would recycle the existing paving and may reuse it where possible.  They 

said beyond the wetland area to the north, they would take spoiled soil and re-vegetate.  They said it is 

part of their erosion control plan involving 30 cubic yards.  They indicated that they have been 

speaking with Representatives from the Railway Division of the Bike Path for permission to take 

trucks down the railroad tracks, which would reduce the number of trucks on US 302 during 

construction. The proposal is agreeable provided it is before the bike path is complete. They said it is 

not part of their erosion control plan, but would be added.  They said it is an alternative they are 

considering.  They are picking up runoff off the wall to a catch basin under wall.  They said natural 

runoff would go through the detention pond.  The ditches would be stone lined.  They said that has not 

been designed yet and would be part of their state submission.  They do not have details now as to 

how far the posts would go into ground for the retention wall in rear.   It is a work in progress.  They 

indicated these are not construction documents, and that they still have work to do.  They have gone 

though erosion and stormwater requirements enough to know that they could obtain permits.  They 

would design for velocities involved and finalize the plan, materials, etc.   A completed plan would be 

sent to the state for approval.  The Board requires copies of the applicant’s stormwater management 

plan and erosion control plan as well.   

 

i. Utilization of renewable energy resources.  The applicants said wherever practical materials 

(pavement, the old building, etc.) would be recycled.  They would not be using solar panels.   

 

j. Municipal Services Impact Evaluation.   Mr. Woolridge said they have all required impact statements 

with the exception of the Berlin Police Department. A letter was sent in August 2006 and was recently 

resubmitted.  He noted that Jennifer Conley has contacted VTrans but has not received a response 

regarding the proposed changes in access.  He said the building would be sprinkled and would have 

four hydrants at the corners of building.  External hookups would be provided pursuant to the Fire 

Department’s specifications.  He verified that there is no water in the detention ponds to be used for 

fire suppression.  It would be better to use the hydrants.   

 

Mr. Newhouse asked if there was ample pressure for the use of hydrants.  He said it was his 

understanding that the flow of the water was not great enough to create sufficient pressure.  He asked 

if there has been an evaluation of water supply in conjunction with the Fire Department. 

 



BERLIN DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES – JULY 17, 2007   PAGE 9   

 

Mr. Woolridge said the difference in elevations from the Price Chopper and the Home Depot would be 

four feet (563 to 567). He said the grade difference is about four feet and would be made up (less than 

3% slope). He said the distance between the two buildings would be approximately 52 feet.  He said 

there would be plenty of room for emergency access even though it is on a slight slope.  He said there 

is a slight difference in the height of the buildings.                

   

The applicants indicated that they have obtained approval from the Berlin Volunteer Fire Department, 

which stated minimal impact on its ability to provide emergency services and agreed to share a copy 

of that September 26, 2006 letter with Mr. Newhouse. They did a flow test analysis and noted that the 

building might require a pump for its sprinkler system.  The applicants will provide a copy of that data 

to the Board.  Mr. Newhouse may obtain a copy form the Zoning Administrator if he wishes.    

 

The applicants indicated that they have obtained approval for water supply from the City of 

Montpelier as well as a sewer allocation from the Berlin Sewer Commission. The March 10, 2006 

letter from the City of Montpelier, Director of Public Works, addressed capacity.  The applicants 

verified the size of piping to be used for water supply.  They noted that they would use the same sewer 

connection, taking the existing sewer line that runs along in front of the building and reconnecting the 

pipe.  The applicants referred to the June 13, 2007 letter and Allocation Approval from the Berlin 

Sewer Commission. 

 

The applicants also referred to the October 30, 2006 letter from the Washington Central Supervisory 

Union indicating that it could easily accommodate an estimate of 10 to 15 new school age students as 

a result of this endeavor.   

 

k. Flood Hazard Review. Mr. Woolridge said they have obtained approval from the State and noted that 

the floodplain is shown on the plans.  He referred to the December 19, 2006 letter from the Vermont 

Agency of Natural Resources, River Management Program, regarding the Special Flood Hazard Area. 

The finished floor elevation would be at 567.50 feet. The flood line is in the access drive but not in the 

parking area.   He said no structure would be susceptible to flood damage.  He said FEMA is in 

process of re-delineating it, which could lower the base flood level several feet.  He noted that 

hearings on it are scheduled for next week.   He said the applicants are taking precautions.  

 

Mr. Cross said he would obtain the information requested by the Board and noted that 30 days should be 

sufficient time to gather the documents.  He said the information would be submitted to the Board/Zoning 

Office at least 10 days in advance of the meeting.    

 

Additional information needed included the following: the applicant’s plans/sketch of the intersection with 

turning lanes proposed for access and egress, impact on Mr. Newhouse’s driveway/access based on 

additional lanes, impact on traffic pertaining to a housing development permitted but not yet built, impact 

on traffic from side roads, Kinney’s/Bond’s access, further details re exterior lighting, treatment/screening 

of wooden retaining wall, specifications for fence along the retention pond, stormwater report, spill area 

on erosion (erosion control plan), ditches on retaining walls, and impact letter from the Berlin Police 

Department.  

 

Ms. Morse made a motion, seconded by Mr. LaGue, to recess Application 07-048 to the August 21, 2007 

meeting.  Motion passed unanimously.  

  

C.  07-047 – JKL Limited Partnership submitted an application for signage (illuminated) for a new building 

(totaling 134,389 square feet).  The property is located on Ames Drive, in the Highway Commercial (HC) 

District, Tax Map U3-4.  The following persons were sworn in to give testimony on this matter:  John 

Kerekes with McCarthy Kerekes, LLC; Rosalyn Holderfield with L.D. Associates, Inc.; Peter Cross, P.E. 



BERLIN DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES – JULY 17, 2007   PAGE 10   

and Dereck Woolridge, P.E. with Cross Consulting Engineers, P.C.; Jennifer Conley, P.E. with Conley 

Associates; Paul Gillies, Esq. for the applicant, Arthur Newhouse, abutter, and Shirley Fortier with the 

Berlin Bike Path Committee.  Others present who may or may not have been sworn in but did not offer 

testimony:  Debra Allen, Burnie Allen, Fred Budzyn, and Bethany Budzyn. 

 

The following documents were submitted and admitted as exhibits.  Exhibit #1:  Application For Zoning 

Permit, 07-047, dated June 14, 2007; Exhibit #2: June 25, 2007 letter from L.D. Associates to the Town 

of Berlin Re:  Sign Waiver – The Home Depot; Exhibit #3:  Drawings for Proposed signs prepared by 

L.D. Associates, dated December of 2006, with revisions dates of June of 2007; Exhibit #4:  Photographic 
Views of proposed signage from northbound and southbound directions prepared by L.D. Associates, 

dated June 27, 2007; and Exhibit #5:  Zoning Administrator’s Report for DRB meeting July 17, 2007. 

 

L.D. Associates stated that the signs proposed are standard, protypical signs for The Home Depot.  The 

signs are proportionate to the size of the building and lot to provide visible and legible directory to 

customers.  The proposed protypical signs would exceed regulations by 368.92 square feet, wall and 

freestanding signs combined.  The increased letter size of the signs is directly proportionate to the position 

of the building along Route 302. Due to the building setback from the road, rail bed, creek, and the change 

in elevation, smaller letter sizes would hinder the visibility and legibility of the signs from the road.  The 

larger size signs would better serve the needs to the building, property and customer.  The pylon sign at the 

entrance is offset considerably from the front of The Home Depot and the additional visual cueing of the 

larger all signs would assist with directing customers to the correct location more safely.   

 

Rosalyn Holderfield, with LD Associates, Inc. explained the applicant’s proposal for signage.  The Board 

was provided with a package in advance. Ms. Holderfield said they are requesting signage exceeding the 

overall square footage of 300 square feet, exceeding 80 SF for any one sign, and need Board approval for 

their illuminated signage.  She said the signs would read:  “THE HOME DEPOT” (72-inch Channel 

Letters, 437.9SF),  “GARDEN CENTER” (30-inch Channel Letters, 71.88 SF), and “BUILDING 

MATERIALS” (30-inch Channel Letters, 91.12 SF).  She said as an alternative to Building Materials they 

would consider “LUMBER” (35 SF), which would reduce the square footage.  She said the aggregate of 

all signs exceeds 300 SF by 312 SF.  The front would be in excess of 600 square feet.  She referred to 

visuals included in the packet.  She said the freestanding sign would be internally illuminated and would 

show the hours of operation.  She said the photos at the end of the packet are to show the landscape and 

way traveling to show the visibility of the signs.      

 

Ms. Holderfield said the sign at the entrance would be located on the north side of the entrance drive and 

would replace the existing sign.  She said the new sign meets appropriate setbacks.  She said they would 

remove the foundation of the existing sign.   Ms. Holderfield said the proposed freestanding sign would be 

25 feet in height for a total fo 150 SF.  She said exact measurements are not yet available.   

 

The Board believes that the proposed freestanding sign might not meet the property line setback.  It must 

be located a minimum of 10 feet from the highway Right-of-Way.  The entrance is fee simple so is the 

property line.  The Board indicated that it does not see how it has authority to consider signage exceeding 

300 SF.  The Board asked the applicants where they believe the Board has latitude to approve it.   
 

The applicants agreed to review the location of the freestanding sign further to verify it meets all setback 

requirements. Ms. Holderfield said they believe that this site fits the definition of a shopping center.  She 

asked if it would be possible to consider the garden center and lumber (building materials) as separate 

businesses.  She said they have a separate entrance and cash registers.  She asked if they could be 

considered combined stores with separate entrances, and control points.   She said The Home Depot is 437 

SF.  She said signs appearing along US 302 have an advantage because they are allowed 300 SF. She said 

since The Home Depot is off the road signage needs to be large to be visible.   

 



BERLIN DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES – JULY 17, 2007   PAGE 11   

 

The Board noted that it understands their argument but as proposed signage would not meet the ordinance.  

The Board noted that it must be fair to all applicants and be consistent with its past decisions.  In past 

situations pertaining to pre-existing signs, applicants might not have necessarily been required to meet the 

ordinance, but none have exceeded the overall allowable amount.            

 

The applicants will review past information and signage that was allowed for this site to determine if there 

have been individual signs that exceed 80 SF and been allowed.   It may be a basis for their argument.   

 

Ms. Morse made a motion, seconded by Mr. LaGue, to recess the hearing in the matter of Application 07-

047 to the August 21, 2007 meeting.   The question was called and the motion passed unanimously.    

 

4. Pubic Comment. 

 

5.  The Chairman called for approval of the Minutes of the June 19
th
 meeting.  Ms. Morse made a motion, 

seconded by Mr. LaGue, to approve the Minutes of the June 19, 2007 meeting as corrected.  Motion passed 

unanimously.  

 

6.  Other Business  

 

7.   Status of Findings. 

 

The Board voted to go into deliberative session at 10:15 p.m. and out at 10:25 p.m. to discuss the status of 

Findings.  The Board’s decision with regard to (closed) adjourned applications will be reported in its Findings.   

 

8.  The next meeting of the Development Review Board is scheduled for Tuesday, August 7, 2007.  The following 

meeting is scheduled for August 21, 2007.    
 

9.  There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 10:26 P.M.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

 

Carla Preston 

Recording Secretary 

Town of Berlin 


